1996

Meredith Gibson v. US West Communications, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appellant, Meredith Gibson, appeals the Judgment and Order of the Third District Court in a wrongful discharge case. She filed this appeal with the Supreme Court pursuant to U.C. §78-2-2(3)(j) (1995). Pursuant to its authority in U.C. §78-2-2(4) (1995), the Supreme Court assigned this case to the Court of Appeals for its review and disposition.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing the trial court's Summary Judgment, the Court of Appeals, after resolving all disputed facts and reasonable inferences in appellant's favor, affirms only if the appellee is nonetheless entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Hunt v. ESI Engineering*, 808 P.2d 1137 (Utah App. 1991); *cert. denied*, 826 P.2d 651 (Utah 1991). In this case, the specific issues are:

1. When appellee ("US West") gives the appellant, Meredith Gibson ("Ms. Gibson"), a US West union employee of 18 years, an opportunity to change her position to a non-union position, does the promise of US West's Employment Office that her new employment would be governed by the union contract create an implied-in-fact contract, or can US West ignore its representation and fire her as an "at will" employee?
2. At the hearing on its motion for summary judgment, may US West attack, for the *first* time, the foundation of Ms. Gibson's testimony (concerning the representations of US West's Employment Office); additionally, may US West attack the credibility of Ms. Gibson's testimony in a motion for summary judgment?
3. Assuming that US West's promise to Ms. Gibson is honored, did US West have just cause (as required by the union contract) to fire Ms. Gibson where Ms. Gibson's supervisor, a US West manager, believed that a verbal reprimand was appropriate under the circumstances?

4. Assuming that US West's promise to Ms. Gibson is honored, did US West breach its covenant of good faith and fair dealing when it summarily fired Ms. Gibson?

5. Assuming that US West's promise to Ms. Gibson is honored, is Ms. Gibson entitled to damages based on her rights to severance pay?

DETERMINATIVE LAW

Rule 32(c)(3)(B) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is determinative of part of the issues raised on this appeal. That Rule provides:

(B) Errors and irregularities occurring at the oral examination in the manner of taking the deposition, in the form of the questions or answers, in the oath or affirmation, or in the conduct of parties, and errors of any kind which might be obviated, removed, or cured if promptly presented are waived unless seasonable objection thereto is made at the taking of the deposition.

U.R.C.P. Rule 32(c)(3)(B) (1995). There are no other constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances or rules that are determinative of this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Upon being terminated by US West after nearly 20 years of exemplary service, Meredith Gibson sued US West, *inter alia*, for wrongful discharge, breach her employment contract's implied covenant of good faith and severance pay. US West moved for summary judgment, and the Salt Lake County Third District Court granted its motion. During its argument, US West had, for the first time, challenged the foundation of Ms. Gibson's deposition testimony concerning a promise made to her to treat her as an employee under US West's collective bargaining agreement with the Communications Workers of America. Accordingly, Ms. Gibson moved the Court to reverse its judgment on the basis that US West had violated provisions of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure designed to protect parties from surprise. The Court denied Ms.

Gibson's motion. Ms. Gibson then filed this appeal. Her appeal is limited to her claims of wrongful termination, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and for severance pay.

FACTS

Meredith Gibson joined Mountain Bell, US West's predecessor, in 1971. R.124. Until 1989, Ms. Gibson worked as a union employee subject to the contract between US West and the Communications Workers of America. R.124. Ms. Gibson's work record was excellent. R.665.

In 1989, US West offered Ms. Gibson the opportunity to work in US West's Salt Lake City Security Office. R.664. She also learned that the Security Office was a non bargained for unit (meaning that employment in that office was not covered by the union contract). R.664. Before accepting the position, Ms. Gibson went to US West's Employment Office and asked how she would be treated if she accepted the position in the Security Office. R.664. The US West Employment Office advised Ms. Gibson that her employment would be *governed* by the union contract. R.664-65. Based on that representation, Ms. Gibson accepted the Security Office position. R.665.

In the Security Office, Ms. Gibson's immediate supervisor was Daniel Gomez, a US West Manager. R. 663, 665. US West repeatedly advised Mr. Gomez that he was to treat US West's union employees and its non union employees the same. R.665. Mr. Gomez acted accordingly. R.665. Other US West managers advised Ms. Gibson prior to her employment in the Security Office that US West would treat its union and non-union employees the same. R.285-87. Thus, Ms. Gibson saw that US West's promise coincided with how in fact she was treated. R.667.

The union contract provided that employees could only be fired for "just cause." R.668-

69. It further grants tenured employees like Ms. Gibson the right to challenge any US West action and require the dispute be resolved by mediation, binding arbitration, or mediation followed by binding arbitration. R.669.

As part of Ms. Gibson's duties, she handled teleabuse (customer complaints concerning annoying, abusive or threatening telephone calls). R.125. Ms. Gibson worked with Mary Tolman. R.125. Ms. Tolman handled all court ordered wire taps. R.125. When Ms. Gibson was on vacation, Ms. Tolman handled Ms. Gibson's duties. R.125.

On about December 20, 1990, Ms. Tolman received a letter from Brenda Mehl authorizing US West to establish a trap and trace on her telephone line. R.128. Ms. Gibson was on vacation. R. 129. Thus, Ms. Tolman called Ms. Mehl and confirmed the number of lines upon which a trap and trace should be placed. R.129. Thereafter, Ms. Tolman called Ms. Gibson at her home. R.666. Ms. Gibson was not available to take the call. R.129. Ms. Tolman advised Mr. Gibson that she had received a trap and trace request from a "Brenda" in Kaysville. R.666. She further stated that she knew that Ms. Gibson's sister was named Brenda and lived in the Kaysville area, but that she couldn't remember Ms. Gibson's sister's last name. R.666. Mr. Gibson advised Ms. Tolman that Ms. Gibson's sister's name was Carlson-Butcher, and Ms. Tolman concluded the call. R.187. Mr. Gibson later told his wife of Ms. Tolman's call. R.129.

Later that same day, Ms. Gibson and her husband went to her sister Brenda's home to borrow a carpet cleaner. R.187. Upon arriving at the home, Brenda told the Gibsons she had just concluded an unpleasant telephone conversation with her ex-husband and that she hung up on him. R.187. Brenda then complained about her ex-husband's calls. R.250. Ms. Gibson noted a Brenda in Kaysville had sought a trap and trace that day, that Ms. Tolman had wondered if it was

Brenda, and that maybe Brenda should consider getting a trap and trace on her ex-husband.

R.250. Brenda said it wasn't her, but that she would think about the trap and trace. R.250-51.

During this conversation, Brenda's boyfriend Derek was sitting in the kitchen area.

R.253. He did not participate in the conversation. R.254. Derek's ex-wife was Brenda Mehl, the Brenda who had called Mary Tolman that day. R.127.

The next day, Derek apparently¹ called Brenda Mehl. told her he knew she had placed a trap and trace on her line, and told her it would not work. R.255. Brenda Mehl then called Mr. Gomez (Ms. Gibson's supervisor) to complain that her request for a trap and trace had been compromised. R.130. Mr. Gomez then called Ms. Gibson twice. R.130. During the second call, Ms. Gibson realized that Derek was Ms. Mehl's ex-husband, and that he must have guessed that it was his ex-wife that called for call tracing. R.256.

After Mr. Gomez had apologized to Ms. Mehl, he called Ms. Gibson again and reprimanded her for the disclosure. R.256. Because he believed that Ms. Mehl was satisfied with his explanation of what had happened and the actions he took (reassigning her case, extending her trap and trace, and reprimanding both Ms. Tolman and Ms. Gibson), Mr. Gomez took no further action. R.130, 666.

In February of 1991, Ms. Mehl contacted Tim Shryne of US West's Denver office to complain about the events of December 1990. R.131. Mr. Shryne then initiated an investigation. R.131. US West immediately suspended Ms. Gibson, Ms. Tolman and Mr. Gomez. R. 132. On March 1, 1991, US West terminated all three. R.133.

¹ Mr. Mehl denied hearing the comment and making the call to his ex-wife. R.666.

In terminating Ms. Gibson, US West stated it was doing so for cause. In particular, it stated that she had violated US West's Code of Conduct, other US West policies and state law by revealing the contents of a court ordered wire tap. R.133. In fact, there never was a court ordered wire tap, nor did Ms. Gibson violate any state laws. R.132-33.

Upon learning of her suspension, Ms. Gibson sought help from the Communication Workers of America. R.133. The union sought to redress Ms. Gibson's injuries. R.667. When US West refused to honor its promise to Ms. Gibson, the union advised Ms. Gibson that it could not help her. R.667.

The Summary Judgment Proceeding

Ms. Gibson filed her lawsuit and in May of 1995, US West moved for summary judgment. R.119. It argued that Ms. Gibson failed to identify any "specific promises the company made to terminate her only for cause." R.139. Ms. Gibson responded that she had identified the US West's Employment Office's promise to her that her employment would be governed by the union contract. R.664. She further cited the terms of the union contract that only permitted termination for "just cause." R.667.

In its Reply Memorandum, US West argued that Ms. Gibson must provide proof that US West and Ms. Gibson "intended a specific term or agreed to terminate the relationship for cause alone." R.693. It then argued that this proof is adequate "only if it meets traditional rules of contract formation." R.693-694. US West further argued that Gibson's testimony that "someone" in its Employment Office advised her that her employment would be governed by the union contract was insufficient under the *Johnson* test (employee's understanding insufficient to change employment from at will to contract). *Johnson v. Morton Thiokol*, 812 P.2d 997, 1002

(Utah 1991). US West made no challenge to the foundation of Ms. Gibson's testimony.

At the hearing, US West challenged both the credibility of Ms. Gibson's testimony, and for the first time, attacked its foundation. R.900-901. Ms. Gibson's counsel was surprised by US West's action and failed to advise the Court of Rule 32(c)(3)(B) and the fact that US West had not made any foundational objection at the time of Ms. Gibson's deposition. R. 904-12. The Court granted US West's motion for the "reasons set forth in [US West's] supporting memoranda." R.786.

Thereafter, Ms. Gibson filed her Motion for relief from the Court's ruling under Rule 59. R.826. She argued that US West had improperly attacked the credibility and foundation of her deposition testimony and that giving proper weight to her testimony, the Court should have denied the Motion for Summary Judgment. R.844-48. The Court denied her motion. R.930. Ms. Gibson then filed this appeal. R.932.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ms. Gibson's testimony that a US West Employment Office representative advised her that her position as a Security Assistant would be governed by the union contract is unrebutted. Under the doctrine of apparent authority, Ms. Gibson was entitled to rely upon that representation. Under the test articulated in *Johnson v. Morton Thiokol*, Ms. Gibson established a specific promise upon which she relied that established the terms of her contract. Thus, she was not an "at will" employee.

Her testimony was given in answer to a question propounded by US West. There was no objection to the form of the question or the answer. By not asserting its foundational objection, US West waive this objection. Further, US West improperly attacked the credibility of Ms.

Gibson's testimony, thus seeking to have the trial court resolve doubts in *its* favor.

Assuming that US West's commitment is honored and the union contract governs Ms. Gibson's employment, there are material facts in dispute as to whether US West had just cause to fire Ms. Gibson. US West's manager in charge of Ms. Gibson did not fire Ms. Gibson. Instead, he gave her a verbal reprimand. Again, resolving inferences in Ms. Gibson's favor, the trial court should have concluded that there was a material issue of fact as to whether Ms. Gibson's firing was for just cause. In any event, the union contract grants Ms. Gibson the right to seek mediation, binding arbitration or both. Ms. Gibson would be entitled to invoke those remedies if she prevails in her claim that she had an implied-in-fact contract with US West.

If Ms. Gibson establishes her entitlement under an implied-in-fact contract, she can sue for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and for severance pay damages.

Thus, had the trial court properly reviewed the record evidence and properly applied Utah law, it would have denied the motion for summary judgment as to these three issues.

ARGUMENT

1. MS. GIBSON'S EMPLOYMENT WITH US WEST WAS GOVERNED BY THE TERMS OF THE COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT WITH THE COMMUNICATIONS WORKERS OF AMERICA; SHE WAS NOT AN "AT WILL" EMPLOYEE

This case has several key facts that sets it apart from other "at will" wrongful discharge cases:

1. For 18 years, Ms. Gibson was a union employee whose employment was governed by the collective bargaining agreement between US West and its union. R.124. For 20 years, she had observed that US West treated its union and non-union employees the same. R.285-87. She had been told by supervisors that she would be treated fairly and not terminated except for cause.

R.286-287. When she went to US West's Employment Office to discuss the proposed transfer to a non-bargained for unit, she wanted the assurance that her employment would be governed by the union contract. R.918-19.

2. Ms. Gibson testified that the US West Employment Office transfer counselor advised her that her new position would be governed by the union contract. R.919.

3. US West did not add its disclaimer language to its Code of Business Conduct advising employees that all employees were "at will" until its August 1989 edition, after Ms. Gibson began work in her new position in April 1989 (R.919). Compare R.158 *et seq.* and R.165 *et seq.*

4. US West falsely claimed in its memorandum to the Court that Ms. Gibson read the 1989 Code of Business Conduct. R.135. Ms. Gibson testified she never saw the 1989 version until after her termination. R.717.

Thus, where other employees signed documents at the inception of their employment acknowledging "at will" status (*Kriberg v. West One Bank*, 872 P.2d 39 (Utah App. 1994)) or received handbooks at the outset of the employment asserting employment was "at will" (*Hamilton v. Parkdale Care Center*, 904 P.2d 1110 (Utah App. 1995)), Ms. Gibson had worked for 18 years under the union contract, observed that US West treated union and non-union employees alike, wanted to make sure her new employment would be governed by the union contract, and received a specific promise that her employment would be governed by the union contract. Furthermore, she never saw US West's self serving changes in its Code of Business Conduct.

As both parties agreed below, the Utah Supreme Court has established the methodology for analyzing this case in *Johnson v. Morton Thiokol*, 812 P.2d 997, 1002 (Utah 1991). The Court stated that the key is whether a unilateral contract has been formed. It explained:

Under a unilateral contract analysis, an employer's promise of employment under certain terms and for an indefinite period constitutes both the terms of the

employment contract and the employer's consideration for the employment contract. The employee's performance of service pursuant to the employer's offer constitutes both the employee's acceptance of the offer and the employee's consideration for the contract. Therefore, for an implied-in-face contract term to exist, it must meet the requirements for an offer of a unilateral contract. There must be a manifestation of the employer's intent that is communicated to the employee and sufficiently definite to operate as a contract provision. Furthermore, the manifestation of the employer's intent must be of such a nature that the employee can reasonably believe that the employer is making an offer of employment other than employment at will. The unilateral nature of such an employment contract is important because it affects the flexibility of the employment relationship.

In this case, when the transfer counselor advised Ms. Gibson that the union contract would govern her employment, that met the requirement of “a manifestation of the employer's intent that is communicated to the employee . . . sufficiently definite to operate as a contract provision.”² Moreover, Ms. Gibson’s reliance on this promise was entirely reasonable. Not only had she observed that union and non-union employees were treated alike (R.285-287, 918), but she had been told by US West managers that they would treat union and non-union employees alike (R.285-287). Furthermore, her immediate supervisor, Mr. Gomez (a US West manager), testified that he had been repeatedly instructed that US West managers were to treat union and non-union employees alike, and he followed that practice. R.665. Finally, when US West fired Ms. Gibson, it did *not* advise her that it was exercising its unilateral right to fire an “at-will”

² Apparently, US West is arguing that its transfer counselor could not orally change the “at-will” status expressly provided for in its to-be-published 1989 edition of its Code of Business Conduct. In addition to putting the cart before the horse, the Utah Supreme Court has expressly held: “At-will employment is a bundle of different privileges, any or all of which an employer can surrender through an oral agreement.” *Sanderson v. First Security Leasing Company*, 844 P.2d 303 (Utah 1992).

employee. Instead, it wrongly accused Ms. Gibson of disclosing a “court ordered” wire tap and committing a crime. R.132-33.

Since whether an implied-in-fact employment relationship exists is a question of fact, US West must show that no reasonable jury could find that an implied-in-fact contract existed. *Kriberg v. West One Bank*, 872 P.2d 39 (Utah App. 1994). Resolving disputed facts in Ms. Gibson’s favor and taking all reasonable inferences from those facts, Ms. Gibson has shown a reasonable jury could find that she had an implied-in-fact contract with US West.

2. ABSENT A TIMELY OBJECTION, US WEST MAY NOT ATTACK MS. GIBSON’S DEPOSITION TESTIMONY FOR LACK OF FOUNDATION; FURTHER, US WEST MAY NOT ATTACK THE CREDIBILITY OF HER TESTIMONY FOR PURPOSES OF A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

U.R.C.P. Rule 32(c)(3)(B) is designed to prevent the kind of surprise that US West used against Ms. Gibson in this case. Although it had never before attacked Ms. Gibson’s testimony concerning her conversation with the US West Employment Office transfer counselor, during the oral argument, it argued:

Importantly, the plaintiff relies on the statement that supposedly was made by someone in the Employment Office at the time she was moving to her job in the Security Office, to the effect that her employment would be upon the same terms and conditions as bargained for employees were entitled to under the collective bargaining agreement.

There are two principal reasons why this statement cannot create an issue of fact and is insufficient to create an issue of fact. First of all, there is no foundation as to who made the statement. She simply says it was someone in the employment office of US West who made the statement. She didn’t say who it was, whether it was a management employee, a secretary, or anyone else so there is no foundation, and if that kind of evidence were presented at the trial, it would not be admitted because it has insufficient foundation.

More importantly, the person who made the statement, there is no evidence in the record that that person had any authority to make the statement,

and by making the statement alter the express intent of US West that employment was at will .

R.900-01.

Rule 32(c)(3)(B) prevents this type of surprise attack.

Errors and irregularities occurring at the oral examination in the . . . the form of the questions or answers, . . . which might be obviated, removed, or cured if promptly presented are waived unless seasonable objection thereto is made at the taking of the deposition.

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