1996

# Meredith Gibson v. US West Communications, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Gibson was aware of the need to protect confidential information. Each year when employees received the Code, they initialed an Acknowledgment Receipt ("Acknowledgement").<sup>5</sup> This Acknowledgement stated:

I agree that I will not, except as required in the conduct of Mountain Bell Business or when properly authorized in writing, publish, disclose, use, or authorize anyone else to publish, disclose or use any private, confidential or proprietary information that I may have in any way acquired, learned, developed or created by reason of my employment.

[R. 709]

Gibson's behavior in the Mehl incident directly violated this Acknowledgement, as well as the confidentiality provisions of the 1986 and 1989 Codes. Gibson disclosed confidential information in the presence of Derek Mehl, who overheard and used the information to further harass Brenda Mehl, the customer who had requested U S WEST's assistance and authorized the trap and trace on her lines. Gibson's serious breach of confidentiality resulted in a lawsuit

---

<sup>5</sup> Since Gibson was a Union member in 1986, 1987, and 1988, she did not sign the acknowledgment; rather, she requested that her supervisor sign the acknowledgment for her. [R. 700]

against U S WEST from Brenda Mehl. The District Court was correct as a matter of law that such egregious behavior justified dismissal.

Furthermore, the 1989 Code makes it clear that a disclosure such as Gibson's was grounds for dismissal. Under the section of the 1989 Code entitled "Discipline," the Code clearly lists "Dismissal" as a disciplinary action that U S WEST may take against an employee who violates the Code. This same section of the Code also states:

The disciplinary action appropriate to a given matter will be determined by the company in its sole discretion. The company's rules and regulations regarding proper employee conduct will not be waived in any respect. Violation is cause for disciplinary action including dismissal.

[R. 701] Gibson cannot now complain that U S WEST exercised its discretion to dismiss her for her admitted breach of its strong policy against disclosure of confidential information.

In summary, the District Court properly granted summary judgment on Gibson's implied contract claim for the following reasons:

- 1) Gibson was presumed to be an at-will employee under Utah law;
- 2) Gibson did not rebut this presumption by producing sufficiently definite evidence that U S WEST intended to modify her at-will status;
- 3) the unambiguous, express terms of the Guide, the Code and the benefits handbook unequivocally established that U S WEST intended that Gibson be employed at-will;
- 4) the at-will disclaimers preclude the conclusion that U S WEST intended an implied contract contrary to the at-will relationship; and
- 5) even if an implied contract was created, U S WEST complied with the terms of such contract when it terminated Gibson for cause.

Accordingly, the District Court properly granted U S WEST summary judgment on Gibson's claim for breach of implied contract.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN GRANTING U S WEST SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON GIBSON'S CLAIM FOR BREACH OF AN IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING.

The District Court was correct when it ruled:

As a matter of law, an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing does not create a for cause standard of dismissal under Utah law; therefore, Plaintiff's claim for breach of such a covenant is not cognizable in this case.

See Addendum A, ¶ 6.

Gibson alleged a claim for wrongful termination based on breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. Gibson based this claim on her belief that the investigation conducted by U S WEST's independent investigator was inadequate and because her supervisor, Gomez, had already verbally reprimanded her. [R. 13-14] Gibson further states "U S WEST's efforts to unilaterally change Ms. Gibson's contract and to renounce it in total constitutes extreme bad faith and the most unfair of dealings." [R. 671] As shown above, Gibson did not show that U S WEST intended to modify her at-will status as an employee in the Security Department. Therefore, she cannot rebut the presumption under Utah law that she was employed at-will.<sup>6</sup>

A claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing fails because Utah recognizes no for-cause standard for dismissal in the at-will employment context. Sanderson v. First Leasing Co., 844 P.2d 303, 308 (Utah 1992); Heslop v. Bank of Utah, 839 P.2d 828, 840 (Utah 1992); Loose v. Nature-All Corp., 785 P.2d 1096, 1097-98 (Utah 1989);

---

<sup>6</sup> Further, because U S WEST complied with any implied contract when it dismissed Gibson for cause, there was no breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

Berube v. Fashion Center, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033, 1046-47 (Utah 1989). In Sanderson, the Utah Supreme Court stated:

Three times in the past three years, we have refused to recognize an implied-in-law covenant of good faith and fair dealing that creates a for-cause standard for dismissal (citations omitted). As we explained in Brehany, although every contract is subject to an implied covenant of good faith, that implied covenant "cannot be construed . . . to establish new, independent rights or duties not agreed upon by the parties."

Sanderson, 844 P.2d at 308 (citing Brehany v. Nordstrom, Inc., 812 P.2d 49, 55 (Utah 1991)).

For the above reasons, the District Court correctly found that Gibson's claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing fails under existing Utah law.

#### **IV. GIBSON IS NOT ENTITLED TO SEVERANCE PAY DAMAGES.**

The District Court was correct in granting U S WEST's motion for summary judgment on Gibson's claim for severance pay. The Court stated:

Plaintiff's claim for failure to pay severance pay fails as a matter of law because Plaintiff's discharge was not wrongful, and Plaintiff has presented no evidence to establish that Defendant had an obligation to pay severance pay to discharged employees.

See Addendum A, ¶ 7. Gibson submitted absolutely no evidence to support a theory that she was entitled to any severance pay upon involuntary separation from employment with U S WEST. She cannot reasonably claim that she was entitled to severance pay as a result of her involuntary termination for wrongful conduct that harmed U S WEST. Nor can she claim that she was entitled to severance pay upon termination as an at-will employee, whether with or without cause. Accordingly, the District Court correctly granted summary judgment on her claim for severance pay.

V. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING GIBSON'S RULE 59 MOTION.

Although Gibson fails to expressly argue in her brief the District Court's denial of her Rule 59 motion, it must be addressed because Gibson includes in her appeal issues of foundation and credibility that were raised for the first time in her Rule 59 motion.<sup>7</sup>

The District Court's denial of Gibson's Rule 59 motion can be disturbed on appeal only for an "abuse of discretion." Moon Lake Elec., 767 P.2d at 128 (finding that the trial court properly denied plaintiff's Rule 59 motion).<sup>8</sup> The District Court did not abuse its discretion.

Gibson's Rule 59 motion claimed that the District Court had made an error of law [R. 808-09]. Therefore, the issue before the District Court was whether it had properly granted summary judgment under applicable Utah case law and Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

---

<sup>7</sup> Although Gibson may claim that these issues arose out of the summary judgment pleadings and hearing, Gibson raised no objections during the summary judgment briefing or oral argument. The first time these issues were raised was in Gibson's memorandum in support of her Rule 59 motion. [R. 812] Indeed, the "credibility" issue was raised for the first time in Gibson's *reply* memorandum in support of her Rule 59 motion. [R. 844] Because Gibson did not brief the denial of her Rule 59 motion, it is uncertain whether these issues are properly before the Court. However, U S WEST addresses the propriety of the denial of Gibson's Rule 59 motion here because it was identified in Gibson's notice of appeal and docketing statement.

<sup>8</sup> In Moon Lake, as grounds for its motion, plaintiff (Moon Lake) argued that its "untimely filed affidavits . . . 'clearly establish the injustice that will be accomplished if said summary judgment is allowed to stand.'" *Id.* at 128. In the present case, Gibson also relies upon an untimely filed affidavit to support her Rule 59 motion asking that the summary judgment be overturned. As in Moon Lake, this Court should find that there was no abuse of discretion.

The District Court properly granted summary judgment because Gibson did not meet her burden under Rule 56 and applicable Utah case law.<sup>9</sup> However, Gibson tried to distract the District Court with red herrings such as foundation and credibility. The District Court did not abuse its discretion when it disregarded Gibson's red herrings and focused on the real issue-- whether Gibson satisfied her burden under Johnson and whether it had properly granted summary judgment under Rule 56.

**A. Foundation.**

In her brief, Gibson states that U S WEST had "never before attacked Ms. Gibson's testimony concerning her conversation with the U S WEST employment office." She also cites Rule 32(c)(3)(B), Utah R. Civ. Proc., stating that it "prevents this type of surprise attack." Gibson Brief at 11-12.<sup>10</sup> On the contrary, U S WEST's comments in oral argument about the inadequacy of Gibson's testimony to defeat summary judgment was *not* a "surprise attack", and Gibson is *wrong* in stating that the issue had not been raised before oral argument.

U S WEST raised the issue of Ms. Gibson's conversation with the U S WEST employment office in both its Memorandum in Support of Motion For Summary Judgment ("Memo in Support") and in its Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion For Summary

---

<sup>9</sup>An extensive discussion of Gibson's failure to meet her burden of establishing the existence of an implied employment contract under Utah law is found in Point I., *supra*.

<sup>10</sup> The only case cited by Gibson in support of her argument, D&L Supply v. Saurini, 775 P.2d 420 (Utah 1989), does not support the proposition that objections not made in a deposition are waived. In D&L, the court merely held that the opponent of a motion for summary judgment had waived his objections to affidavits containing hearsay statements "when he failed to object at the trial court." 775 P.2d at 421. There was no discussion of objections in a deposition, much less of waiver of such objections or of Rule 32(c)(3)(B).

Judgment ("Reply Memo"). In its Memo in Support, U S WEST had an entire section devoted to this issue. This section is entitled Gibson's Argument That Verbal Representations Created An Implied Contract Consisting Of The Terms In The Collective Bargaining Agreement Fails As A Matter Of Law. [R. 139] In its Reply Memo, U S WEST specifically addressed Gibson's allegation that someone in the employment office told her that her employment would be governed by the CBA, and showed that this allegation was insufficient under the Johnson test and that summary judgment was appropriate under Rule 56. [R. 695-96]

During Gibson's deposition, she was asked:

Q [Mr. Jensen] Can you tell me who among the management personnel<sup>11</sup> made those statements to you [that the terms of the CBA would apply to Gibson's job in the Security Department]?

A [Ms. Gibson] The employment office.

Q Do you recall any particular individual who made the statements?

A No. I'm sorry, I can't.

. . . .

Q But you don't have any recollection about who particularly told you that the Collective Bargaining Agreement would apply to you?

A No.

[R. 716]<sup>12</sup>

---

<sup>11</sup> The complaint had alleged that Gibson "was told by management personnel that although the security office had been excluded from the bargaining unit, the terms and conditions of the CBA would dictate the terms and conditions of her employment." [R. 2-3]

<sup>12</sup> The quoted testimony formed the basis on which U S WEST argued its motion for summary judgment, to the effect that Gibson had failed to produce evidence of a sufficiently  
(continued...)

On the basis of Gibson's inability to identify a specific individual, U S WEST argued in its Reply Memo that Gibson's allegation that an unidentified person told her that her job in the Security Department would be governed by the CBA is insufficient under the Johnson test because Gibson did not satisfy her burden by pointing to "sufficiently definite" manifestations of U S WEST's "intent" to modify the terms of her employment. Notwithstanding Gibson's attempt to turn this into a foundation issue by citing Rule 32, it is not a foundation issue;

---

<sup>12</sup>(...continued)

definite offer by U S WEST of employment other than at will--the person who supposedly had made the statement could not be identified, nor could that person's authority to offer employment on terms different from U S WEST's publications be established.

Gibson filed her complaint on September 28, 1993. However, for the next 20 months she failed to conduct any discovery directed toward ascertaining the identity or authority of the mystery person who allegedly told her that her employment in the security department would be governed by the CBA.

U S WEST's motion for summary judgment was filed May 23, 1995, yet argument on the motion was not heard until October 2, 1995. Thus Gibson had over four months to submit an affidavit in opposition to the motion, but did not do so. It was not until November 3, 1995, after the court had granted summary judgment, after Gibson had filed her Rule 59 motion, and after U S WEST had filed its memorandum in opposition to the Rule 59 motion, that Gibson submitted an affidavit in which she purported to recall the first name of the person in the U S WEST employment office who supposedly told her that her employment in the Security Department would be governed by the CBA. In her Rule 59 motion reply memorandum, Gibson sought to use that affidavit, even though it was untimely, U S WEST had no opportunity to rebut it, and Gibson herself recognized that it had not been properly filed, where she stated: "If permitted, Ms. Gibson would file the attached Affidavit." [R. 846] Gibson never sought leave to file the affidavit.

Even if Gibson had properly filed her affidavit in opposition to the motion for summary judgment, it should have been disregarded, since a party opposing a motion for summary judgment may not rely on an affidavit contradicting prior deposition testimony. *See, e.g., Guardian State Bank v. Humpherys*, 762 P.2d 1084, 1087 (Utah 1988); *Webster v. Sill*, 675 P.2d 1170, 1173 (Utah 1983); *Gaw v. State by and through Dep't of Trans.*, 798 P.2d 1130, 1140 (Utah App. 1990); *Floyd v. Western Surgical Assoc.*, 773 P.2d 401, 403 (Utah App. 1989). *See generally*, 10A C. Wright and A. Miller, *Federal Practice and Procedure*, § 2726, 1995 Pocket Part at 31-32.

instead, it is simply an issue of Gibson not having satisfied her burden under Utah law.<sup>13</sup> [R. 695-96]

**B. Credibility.**

Gibson argues that because U S WEST's Reply Memorandum in support of its summary judgment motion placed the word "someone" in quotation marks when referring to Gibson's allegation that "someone" in the employment office said her employment would be governed by the CBA, U S WEST was inappropriately attacking Ms. Gibson's credibility, and that such a practice is reversible error. This argument is ludicrous. In its Reply Memorandum, U S WEST states:

Furthermore, Gibson's claim that "someone" in the employment office told her that her employment would be governed by the CBA, is insufficient under the Johnson test. Gibson depo. at 26.

[R. 696]

Several sentences later, in the same paragraph, U S WEST states:

Not only does Gibson not satisfy her burden by pointing to "sufficiently definite" manifestations of U S WEST's "intent" to modify the terms of her employment,

---

<sup>13</sup> Gibson appears to be claiming that U S WEST should have objected to her *answer* based on lack of foundation. Not only would this be highly unusual, it is nonsensical in light of the fact that Gibson was asked to identify who had made the statement and she said that she "can't," indicating that she did not have personal knowledge to answer the question. There is nothing objectionable about a witness responding that she lacks knowledge to answer a question. To raise a foundation issue in response to U S WEST's argument that Gibson failed to satisfy her burden is disingenuous. In any event, if a foundation objection was proper (which it was not), Gibson's counsel should have objected to U S WEST's question. However, as Gibson points out, any objection thereto has now been waived under Rule 32.

but based upon her testimony, she cannot even legitimately argue that she "reasonably" believed her employment was being modified.<sup>14</sup>

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